1997

Jon Triesault, Elizabeth Triesault, Roger Clive Baker
and Lynnette Jennifer Baker v. QMF, Inc., William
E. Casper, Jr., Shirley A. Casper, George G. Wright,
Jane C. Wright, et al., : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction was conferred on the Utah Supreme Court by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1996). The appeal was timely. The Order of Dismissal appealed from was initially entered May 28, 1996 (R. 809-806), and amended December 10, 1996. (R. 912-910). No motions were filed under Rules 50(a) or (b), 52(b), or 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Two motions seeking reconsideration (authorized by Rule 54(b)) were filed. The first was filed April 12, 1996 (R. 765-763), and denied by the Order of Dismissal dated May 28, 1996. The second Rule 54(b) motion was filed August 16, 1996 (R. 826-825), and denied by the Order of Dismissal dated December

10, 1996. Because of a pending counterclaim which was first dismissed as part of the December 10, 1996, order, the May 28, 1996, dismissal did not become final until December 10, 1996.

By order entered January 9, 1997, the trial court granted plaintiffs' ex parte motion for extension of time to appeal, and granted a 30 day extension of time. (R. 920-918.) Plaintiffs filed their notice of appeal on Monday, February 10, 1997. (R. 923-921.)

This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (Supp. 1997).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did Triesaults have standing to bring their claims that they were fraudulently induced to purchase a lot in the PUD? This issue was addressed below in plaintiffs' Rule 54(b) Motion for Order Vacating Dismissal of Personal Claims. (R. 826-825.)

2. Did plaintiffs, who were each members of a planned unit development and who were each personally affected by the loss of prime common area, have standing to challenge the sale of part of the PUD common area? This issue was addressed in Plaintiffs' Motion to Determine Standing or, in the Alternative, for Leave to Join Additional Parties. (R. 618-617.)

3. Did plaintiffs waive their personal claims (that Triesaults were fraudulently induced to sign a quit claim deed and Bakers were fraudulently induced to sign the amended PUD plat) by stating that their goal in the lawsuit was not to profit personally, but to seek the return of the common ground or its value to

the homeowners association? This issue was addressed below in plaintiffs' Rule 54(b) Motion for Order Vacating Dismissal of personal Claims. (R. 826-825.)

4. Where the applicable statute and contract required a vote of three-fourths of the property owners of a planned unit development before selling off a parcel of the common ground, but where no owners' meeting was held nor a vote ever taken, did the trial court err in holding that such approval was effectively given because at least three-fourths of the members stated by affidavit that they did not wish to join in plaintiffs' challenge of the sale of the common area? This issue was suggested in Wrights' memorandum opposing plaintiffs' motion to reconsider (R. 788) and was addressed at oral arguments.

The trial court decided this case by summary judgment, and its ruling is reviewed for correctness, with no deference to the trial court. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634, 636 (Utah 1989); Ron Case Roofing and Asphalt Paving v. Blomquist, 773 P.2d 1382, 1385 (Utah 1989).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES OR RULES.

Appellants are not aware of any statutes, rules or cases which are solely determinative of the issues stated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature Of The Case. This is an appeal from a final judgment in a civil case. The lawsuit sought rescission or damages arising from a real estate transaction.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below. Plaintiffs filed their complaint on March 10, 1995. (R. 24-1.¹) The complaint named as defendants the Wrights and QMF, Inc. (sometimes jointly referred to in this brief as "Wright"), and the Caspers. Among other things, the complaint sought an order restoring certain real property to a planned unit development, and an award of damages related to the loss of the property. Plaintiffs also filed a lis pendens. (R. 26-25.) On June 21, 1995, the parties filed a stipulation dismissing the claim for restoration of the real property. (R. 70-68.) Plaintiffs also released their lis pendens against the property. (R. 72-71.) An Order of Partial Dismissal was entered June 29, 1995. (R. 75-73.)

Plaintiffs filed a motion for summary judgment (R. 79-78) and supporting memorandum (R. 171-080) on July 14, 1995. Wrights responded to the motion (R. 191-185) and filed their own motion for summary judgment. (R. 355-354.) Caspers also responded to the motion. (R. 507-475.) Following oral argument, the trial court (Judge Lynn Davis) ordered the parties to provide further briefs on whether plaintiffs had standing. (R. 536.) Caspers then filed a motion for summary judgment which included arguments on standing. (R. 559-558.) Wrights filed a memorandum on the issue. (R. 555-557.) Plaintiffs filed a motion to have the court determine that

¹ The documents in the trial court record are organized in reverse chronological order, with the result that the index page numbers on each document run in reverse order.

plaintiffs had standing or alternatively to grant leave to join additional parties. (R. 618-617.)

On January 24, 1996, the trial court (Judge Lynn Davis) ruled that plaintiffs lacked standing, and that the case would be dismissed without prejudice unless the plaintiffs within 30 days joined the homeowners association or the other homeowners. (R. 647-645.) Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on February 23, 1996, naming the other homeowners and the homeowners association as additional defendants. (R. 730-696.) Wrights (R. 736-731) and Caspers (741-737) answered the amended complaint.

As part of the regular rotation of cases in the Fourth District, the case was assigned to Judge Donald Eyre. On April 4, 1996, Judge Eyre ruled on Caspers' motion for summary judgment. Apparently unaware that plaintiffs had filed an amended complaint, Judge Eyre stated the action was dismissed without prejudice because plaintiffs had failed to join additional parties. Judge Eyre also noted that Judge Davis had allowed for joinder of either the homeowners association or the homeowners, but expressed his opinion that joinder of the homeowners association would be more appropriate. (R. 762-760.)

Plaintiffs sought reconsideration of the dismissal on the ground that Judge Eyre was obviously unaware plaintiffs had filed an amended complaint. (R. 756-763.) Wrights opposed the reconsideration and submitted affidavits from several homeowners stating they did not want to be part of any lawsuit. (R. 791-773.) On May

7, 1996, Judge Eyre granted the motion to reconsider, but nonetheless ordered the case dismissed. The court held that only the homeowners association had standing to pursue the claims, and that the affidavits of a majority of the homeowners precluded the homeowners association from being named as a party to pursue the claims. (R. 796-792.) An order of dismissal prepared by Wrights counsel and dismissing plaintiffs' case with prejudice² was entered May 28, 1996. (R. 809-806.)

On September 1, 1995, without seeking prior leave of court, Wrights had filed a counterclaim against plaintiffs claiming slander of title and other damages. (R. 346-343.) The court subsequently granted leave to file the counterclaim. (R. 655.) On August 19, 1996, plaintiffs, through new counsel, filed a motion for summary judgment against the counterclaim. (R. 839-838.) Plaintiffs also sought an order vacating the dismissal of their personal claims. (R. 826-825.) Following argument, the trial court reaffirmed the dismissal of all plaintiffs' claims, but ordered that the dismissal be without prejudice. The court also granted plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment dismissing Wrights' counterclaim. (R. 904-899.) The formal order of dismissal was entered December 10, 1996. (R. 912-910.)

²Judge Eyre's Memorandum Decision dismissing the case (R. 762-760), as well as Judge Davis's prior decision on standing (R. 647-645), had both stated the case would be dismissed without prejudice.

Plaintiffs obtained a 30-day extension of time to appeal (R. 920-918), and filed their notice of appeal on February 10, 1997. (R. 923-921.) The Supreme Court poured the case over to this Court on April 30, 1997. (R. 931.)

C. Statement of Facts.

In 1974, QMF, then a corporation³ owned by Wrights and Caspers, purchased a parcel of property in Mapleton, Utah, containing a little over a hundred acres. (R. 495.) A 25-acre portion of that property was preliminarily approved as a planned unit development ("PUD") in 1974. Although lots were sold previously, the formal approval for the PUD occurred in 1980. (R. 494.) As part of the PUD, approximately two acres were set aside as common ground. (R. 506.)

For financial and other reasons, Wrights and Caspers determined to amend the PUD documents to reacquire part of the common ground, which could then be sold as a new lot. (R. 506.) In order to maintain the required 25 acres in the PUD, Wrights would convey other property to the PUD. (Id.) George Wright prepared an amended plat, Quiet Meadow Farms Planned Unit Development Plat "C," to accomplish this change. The amended plat "C" had essentially the same lots (with some adjustments in lot lines) as the prior plats. (R. 168.)

³QMF, Inc. was involuntarily dissolved on December 1, 1987. (R. 729 ¶ 4, 735 ¶ 4.)

Mapleton City required Wrights and Caspers to obtain the signatures of all the lot owners to change the plat. (R. 505.) George Wright obtained the signatures of all the owners except Steve Hechtle, the prior owner of the Triesault lot. Hechtle orally authorized Wright to sign the amended plat, but did not give a written power of attorney. (R. 444.) Wright represented to the homeowners who personally signed the plat, including Bakers, that "the funds that came from the sale of [the new lot] would be used for the benefit of the PUD." (R. 128.)

The amended Plat "C" was not recorded until March 16, 1993. (R. 530.) Prior to recordation, on March 1, 1993, Hechtle had sold his lot to Triesaults. (Id.) Wrights never sought the signature of the Triesaults on the amended plat; therefore, neither Hechtle nor Triesaults ever signed the amended plat.

George Wright had facilitated the sale to Triesaults by representing to them, among other things, that the common area could never be built on, and that the land directly behind the subject lot was Forest Service land. (R. 414 (Triesault deposition p. 13).) Contrary to these representations, the land directly behind the lot purchased by Triesaults was owned by QMF, not Forest Service. (R. 313.) Also contrary to these representations, Wright was in the process of removing some of the common area to be sold as a building lot.

As part of the plat amendment process, the title company requested that all the lot owners sign a quit claim deed conveying

all the property back to QMF, so the amended plat would reconvey the property to the lot owners. Triesaults were now lot owners, although they had not signed the amended plat, so a quit claim deed from them was necessary to facilitate the title company's mechanism for amending the plat. To obtain Triesaults' signatures, George Wright told them the quit claim deed was required to make "technical adjustments" to add some unusable hillside land to their lot. (R. 410 (Triesault deposition p. 45); R. 106-105.) Wright did not disclose that the effect of the deed would be to remove 1.8 acres from the heart of the prior common area. (R. 409 (Triesault deposition p. 50).)

Wright used the 1.8 acres along with additional land he owned to create a lot which was sold for \$85,000. George Wright received approximately \$24,000 of that amount. Approximately \$10,000 went directly to Mr. Casper. Additional amounts were used to pay bills owed by Wrights' and Caspers' partnership, Quiet Meadow Farms. The monies were not used for the debts of the PUD. (R. 167-166.)

Plaintiffs brought this action to recover the value of the common area which was taken from the PUD and to recover for the reduced value of their own properties. (R. 720.) Plaintiffs testified that they did not seek to profit from the lawsuit, but only to recover what was taken. (R. 477.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs allege they were induced by defendants' wrongful acts to personally take actions--Triesaults to buy property and to

quit claim that property back to developer, and Bakers to approve an amendment to the PUD. These misrepresentations were made personally to plaintiffs and induced individual acts by each plaintiff. Plaintiffs have standing to assert claims based on those acts.

Plaintiffs also had standing to privately assert claims which may have been common with other owners in the PUD. As with a condominium, an owner in a PUD has private rights and has standing to assert those rights. Standing is not defeated by the fact that other PUD residents may have the same rights.

Plaintiffs did not waive their claims by revealing an advance intent to donate any fruits of the litigation to the homeowners association.

The fact that a majority of homeowners expressed, outside of any meeting, a willingness to approve the amended PUD plat does not obviate compliance with the formal requirements. Votes cannot be taken outside of a meeting; the objecting homeowners have a right to a formal meeting where their positions can be advocated.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFFS HAD STANDING TO PURSUE THEIR PERSONAL CLAIMS.

Standing is a jurisdictional issue which considers whether a person has a sufficient interest in a controversy to bring a lawsuit. The Utah Supreme Court has noted that standing issues

often turn on the facts of a case and that generalizations about standing to sue are largely worthless as such." Kennecott Corp v. Salt Lake County, 702 P.2d 451, 453 (Utah 1985) (citation omitted, quotation marks omitted). The Court has nonetheless developed the following test for standing:

1. We first apply traditional standing criteria, which require that (a) the interests of the parties be adverse, and (b) the parties seeking relief have a legally protectible interest in the controversy. Plaintiff must be able to show that he has suffered some distinct and palpable injury that gives him a personal stake in the outcome of the legal dispute.

2. If the plaintiff has no standing under the first step, then he may have standing if no one has a greater interest than he and if the issue is unlikely to be raised at all if the plaintiff is denied standing.

3. In unique cases, standing may be established by a showing that the issues raised by the plaintiff are of great public importance and ought to be judicially resolved.

Kennecott, 702 P.2d at 454 (citing Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d 1145 (Utah 1983) (citations and quotation marks omitted)).

In this case plaintiffs asserted two separate interests: personal claims, and claims on behalf of all homeowners. Plaintiffs had standing to assert both claims.

Plaintiffs' complaint alleges wrongs personal to the plaintiffs. Paragraph 14 of the amended complaint alleges that George Wright falsely told Jon Triesault that the purpose of executing a quit claim deed was to make "technical adjustments" in the plat, rather than truthfully stating that its purpose was to

eliminate the most valuable part of common area. Paragraph 19 alleges that Wright falsely told Bakers that the proceeds from the sale of the common area would be used for the purpose of improving and maintaining the common area.

Although all homeowners were harmed by the removal of the property from the common area, plaintiffs suffered wrongs individually, independent from their ownership in the homeowners association. These damages are alleged in paragraph 39 of the complaint:

The plaintiffs, and each of them, were injured and damaged by the removal of the Common Area taken by the Defendants Wrights, Casper and QMF. That injury and damages includes, but is not necessarily limited to: a) the reduction of the Common Area; b) the value of the Common Area taken by the Defendants Wright, Casper and QMF; c) the likelihood that they would be unable to pick cherries from the cherry trees; d) the reduced possibility of access; e) the reduction in value of their properties as a result of the access problems described above; f) the reduction in value of their property as a result of the property to the east of Quiet Meadow Farms Planned Unit Development being owned by private property owners (including the Defendants Wright, Casper and QMF) rather than the National Forest Service; g) other damages as may be proven at trial.

(R. 720.)

The harm to all of the plaintiffs is real, substantial, and personal. These are not rights which plaintiffs are attempting to assert for the benefit of the homeowners association, but rather rights which are individual and personal to the plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs, and only plaintiffs, have standing to pursue these claims.

Plaintiffs also had rights common with all members of the homeowners association. Because of the unique nature of a PUD (similar to a condominium), both an individual owner and the homeowners association could have standing to assert similar rights. The document creating the PUD did so by reference to the Utah Condominium Act, and the property rights created are functionally the same as for condominiums. The Utah Supreme Court described those rights as follows:

A condominium owner is the holder of a hybrid real property interest consisting of "two distinct tenures, one in severalty and the other in common; both types, although well established separately, are inseparably joined in a condominium."

Brickyard Homeowners' Ass'n Management Comm. v. Gibbons Realty Co., 668 P.2d 535, 537 (Utah 1983). Based on the same analysis, the court in Rogers & Ford Const. Corp. v. Carlandia Corp., 626 So. 2d 1350 (Fla. 1993), held that an individual unit owner has standing to sue for defects in the common areas of a condominium, so long as the interests of the other unit owners are protected.

Plaintiffs had an individual interest in the common areas. Plaintiffs joined the other homeowners, which would have protected their interests. The district court erred in holding that plaintiffs lacked standing.

POINT II

PLAINTIFFS DID NOT WAIVE THEIR CLAIMS.

The trial court was concerned that the plaintiffs "do not request monetary gain as an outcome of the lawsuit." (R. 901.) This "finding" is not supported by the deposition testimony. Mr. Triesault testified:

Q. Mr. Triesault, do you claim that you and your wife are entitled to the full value of the common areas that were taken out?

A. No.

Q. What would be your claim?

A. A portion. There is no claim on my behalf for a monetary gain of any kind. This is a claim to return the common ground, and any damages that may have been incurred or legal expenses, or *whatever else is pled in the complaint*. There is no attempt on my part or I believe on Mr. Baker's part to profit in any way by this lawsuit, financially.

. . . .

Q. You're not seeking to benefit monetarily at all from the lawsuit?

A. Not personally. If there are benefits monetarily, they would be given to the homeowners' association.

R. 477 (*italics added*).

Plaintiffs clearly prayed for compensatory damages, for punitive damages, for attorney fees, for declaratory relief, and for other relief as appropriate. The complaint stated a cognizable claim for that relief. It is irrelevant what plaintiffs may have chosen to do with any money awarded. The fact that plaintiffs may

have chosen to donate any money back to the association does not constitute a waiver of the right to receive that money.

POINT III

PLAINTIFFS SUFFERED A LEGAL INJURY EVEN THOUGH A MAJORITY OF THE HOMEOWNERS DISAGREED WITH PLAINTIFFS' POSITION.

The trial court stated: "The Court has difficulty in finding an injury where the common ground has been disposed of in compliance with the applicable statute, and where additional property has been deeded back to compensate for that disposal." (R. 901.) The claim that the property had been disposed of in compliance with statute was based on the court's interpretation of Utah Code Ann. § 57-8-32 (1996), which permits sale of condominium property upon the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths of the unit owners. The trial court reasoned that, "[a]lthough no official vote was taken," because eight of the ten owners in this case consented to the sale of the common area, those "votes" would "effectively bind all property owners, including the Plaintiffs." (R. 901.)

The error in this reasoning is its assumption that a vote can be taken without a meeting. The Utah Supreme Court long ago rejected that concept in the context of a corporation:

A corporation being but an artificial entity, has but one will, and this will is collected by the sense of a majority of the directors. Its will, so collected, directs and controls the corporate acts. It is therefore important that every director should have an opportunity to be heard on all matters affecting the

corporation, so that, through the sense of all, its best interests may be subserved. Every director is entitled to the reasoning, judgment, and advice of every other director [W]here matters to be acted upon call for deliberation and judgment, all interests and parties to be affected should have the benefit of the wisdom and counsel of all those intrusted with the decision. Although all may not concur, still the arguments and information of each may modify and affect the conclusions which otherwise might be reached.

Singer v. Salt Lake City Copper Mfg. Co., 17 Utah 143, 53 P. 1024, 1028 (1898).

The fact that eight of ten owners approved the sale is therefore of no relevance. This Court must presume that some of eight may have been persuaded by the arguments of the two had a formal meeting occurred. There was no lawful, proper vote in this case. The lack of that vote was not harmless.

An additional error in the trial court's reasoning is found in the comment that "additional property has been deeded back to compensate" for the loss of part of the common area. Land is unique. Redevelopment Agency v. Mitsui Investment, Inc., 522 P.2d 1370, 1373 (Utah 1974). Plaintiffs characterized the lost property as the heart of the common area. Although equal acreage was deeded back to replace the lost property, it certainly was not of equal value. The original common area was a generally flat lot planted with cherry trees, a place where children could play. The replacement property was steep hillside. If the properties were in fact equivalent, Wrights and Caspers would have had no motivation to carve out the common area in the first place.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs had standing, both for private wrongs and for wrongs to all homeowners in the PUD. Plaintiffs did not waive their claims. The dismissal of plaintiffs' complaint should be reversed.