1997

Jon Triesault, Elizabeth Triesault, Roger Clive Baker
and Lynnette Jennifer Baker v. QMF, INC., William
E. Casper, Jr., Shirley A. Casper, George G. Wright,
Jane C. Wright, and John Does 1-10 : Brief of
Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Plaintiffs, representing two of the ten lots of the Quiet Meadow Farms Planned Unit Development (“PUD”), brought this action regarding removal of a portion of common area from the PUD. The action was brought without permission of the Executive Committee of the PUD or the Homeowners Association, and against the desires of the other eight property owners. The Plaintiffs have no authority to bring this action and have no standing to maintain their claim.

The Plaintiffs attempt to name the owners of the other eight properties as Defendants was a failed attempt to attain standing, inasmuch as those who had standing were not willing to bring or maintain the action as Plaintiffs.

The Plaintiffs acknowledged their lack of standing in deposition statements which make it clear that they seek no personal gain in the lawsuit.

The owners of the other eight properties expressed their unwillingness to have the lawsuit pursued, rendering the Plaintiffs' claims futile, and justifying the lower Court's granting of summary judgment dismissing Plaintiffs' claims.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

ALL EQUITABLE AND LEGAL CLAIMS OF THE PLAINTIFFS HAVE BEEN VOLUNTARILY DISMISSED OR WAIVED, EXCEPT THE LEGAL CLAIM FOR WHICH PLAINTIFFS HAVE NO STANDING.

The Plaintiffs' original Complaint raised equitable claims and legal claims. The equitable claims were voluntarily dismissed and are no longer at issue. (R. 75-68.) The legal claims, for monetary damages, are all that survive. These legal claims fit into two categories:

1. Claims of representations by George Wright, individually, when Triesaults bought their lot from Hechtle. These relate to picking cherries, Forest Service boundaries, storage buildings, and the access road. These issues were fully briefed by the parties and were dismissed by the lower Court with the granting of the Summary Judgment against the Plaintiffs. (R. 177-171; 461-454; 527; 826-825; 875-868; and 895-880.) These were not preserved on appeal or addressed in Appellants' brief. They are therefore not at issue and merit no further discussion.

2. The Plaintiffs' other claim at law relates to some intangible interest they claim in the removed common area. They make this claim, even though that portion of common area was removed before the Triesaults acquired their lot and, hence, before they could have acquired any interest in any common areas. Nevertheless, and regardless of when the removal happened, the interest in the common areas of the PUD is not personal to the Plaintiffs, but is within the exclusive ambit of the Homeowners Association or the Executive Committee.

The Plaintiffs' consistent statements to the effect that they sought no personal gain, but that all legal damages to be recovered were to go to the Homeowners Association, are an undeniable acknowledgement that the claim is not their own but belongs to the Homeowners Association. This amounts to a recognition that they lack standing to bring the claim, which is the central issue of this appeal.

The fact that the homeowners do not want this remedy forced upon them seems to have miraculously escaped the Plaintiffs' notice.

The issue of standing is effectively and adequately briefed in Point I of the Argument of Brief of Appellees Casper. The Appellees Wright and QMF, Inc. adopt that discussion from Appellees Casper's brief, and concur with Caspers in that discussion, with the additional observation, as stated below, that the Plaintiffs' attempt to cure standing through their Amended Complaint failed because the proper parties with standing refused to join as *Plaintiffs*.

POINT II

THE PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO CURE THEIR LACK OF STANDING.

Both trial court judges, Judge Davis and Judge Eyre, recognized early on that the Plaintiffs lacked standing. Plaintiffs were given every opportunity to cure their lack of standing if they could do so. The Plaintiffs filed a Supplemental Memorandum regarding the issue of standing, and were allowed to file an Amended Complaint.

However, the Amended Complaint failed to cure the lack of standing. It failed in this attempt because the Amended Complaint only added additional Defendants. What the Plaintiffs failed to realize is that the proper parties needed to *bring* the action. They needed to become *Plaintiffs* in the case. The Plaintiffs' inability to persuade the homeowners, the Association, or the Executive Committee, to join as parties Plaintiff is fatal to the Plaintiffs' attempt to cure their lack of standing.

POINT III

PLAINTIFFS WAIVED THEIR CLAIMS.

The Plaintiffs are unwilling to concede that the following language constitutes a waiver of their personal claims.

Q BY MR. BRADFORD: Mr. Triesault, do you claim that you and your wife are entitled to the full value of the common areas that were taken out?

A BY MR. TRIESAULT: No.

Q What would be your claim?

A A portion. There is no claim on my behalf for a monetary gain of any kind. This is a claim to return the common ground, and any damages that may have been incurred or legal expenses, or whatever else is pled in the complaint. There is no attempt on my part or I believe on Mr. Baker's part to profit in any way by this lawsuit, financially.

Q You're not seeking to benefit monetarily at all from the lawsuit?

A Not personally. If there are benefits monetarily, they would be given to the homeowners' association.

Deposition I of Jon Triesault, ps. 36:2-38:2. (R. 411.)

* * * * *

Q BY MR. BRADFORD: On page 36 of your husband's deposition, he states, "There is no claim on my behalf for monetary gain of any kind. This is a claim to return the common ground, and any damages that may have been incurred or legal expenses, or whatever else is pled in the Complaint. There is not attempt only part or I believe on Mr. Baker's part to profit in any way by this lawsuit financially."

A I would agree with that.

Q That is your position, also?

A Yes.

Deposition of Elizabeth Triesault, p. 38:12-24. (R.376 [reverse side of page])

* * * * *

Q BY MR. BRADFORD: On page 36 of Mr. Triesault's deposition, beginning on line 13, he makes the statement "There is no claim on my behalf for a monetary gain of any kind. This is a claim to return the common ground and any damages that may have been incurred or legal expenses or what else is prayed in the complaint. There is no attempt on my part or I believe on Mr. Baker's part to profit in any way by this lawsuit financially."

A Yes.

Q Is that your position as well Dr. Baker, is that in fact an accurate statement of your position in this matter?

A That is accurate.

Deposition of Roger Baker, p. 20:10-22. (R. 363.)

These statements clearly appear on their face to be waivers of any personal claims. The Plaintiffs' attempts to characterize these statements other than waivers runs contrary not only to the words expressed but to the context of the statements as well.

The Plaintiffs had no personal claims to begin with. Nevertheless, and regardless of whether the Plaintiffs have a right to waive a claim they do not own, their waiver clearly takes away the "case or controversy" that is essential to the concept of standing.

POINT IV

THE WISHES OF THE HOMEOWNERS MAY BE EXPRESSED BY AFFIDAVIT, AND NO MEETING IS REQUIRED.

The Plaintiffs raise the issue on appeal that the wishes of the then current homeowners were expressed in the form of Affidavits submitted in connection with the Defendants' Opposition to Motion to Reconsider. (R. 791-771.) They claim that

the Affidavits should be given no legal effect because the affiants had not previously met in some meeting with the Plaintiffs.

The Defendants Wright and QMF concur with Caspers that the issue of lack of a meeting was not preserved on appeal, and adopt the arguments in Point III of Caspers' brief.

Furthermore, Wrights assert that there is nothing whatsoever about a meeting that could change the fact that the necessary signatures had been affixed to the Amended Plat years earlier. No meeting could undo what had been done, or do anything to change past history.

Some of those affiants did not even have an interest in the PUD when the Amended Plat was signed on November 11, 1992, and therefore would have no power to change or remove those signatures, even if it were otherwise theoretically possible.

The Affidavits submitted by the homeowners are valid expressions of the will of those who would have had standing at that time to bring or maintain this action.

There is no requirement of a meeting for them to express their desire that they do not wish to have the lawsuit pursued.

Plaintiffs invoke Corporation Law regarding Directors' meetings. The document that establishes the Homeowners Association specifies that it is an unincorporated association, and corporate statutes have no applicability, even by analogy. (R. 700-696 and Appendix 5.)

It was proper for the lower court to consider and give due effect to those Affidavits. They assured the Court that, in its attempt to do substantial justice, a dismissal of the Plaintiffs' claims was not only the legally inevitable result, but the right, fair, and proper result as well. The clear expression of the homeowners, as stated in those Affidavits, reassured the lower Court and reassures this court that the summary judgment dismissing the Plaintiffs' claims was and is correct and should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The Plaintiffs never had standing to bring this action. The claim, if indeed one ever existed, belonged to the Homeowners Association, or possibly the

Executive Committee or even the homeowners themselves, but never to these Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs' attempt to bring in the other homeowners as *Defendants* was a misguided attempt to cure their lack of standing, as the homeowners had to be the ones bringing the action not the ones against whom the action was brought.

In any event, the action is inevitably futile inasmuch as eight out of the ten lots constituting the Homeowners Association rejected the remedy which the Plaintiffs have attempted to foist upon them. There is no question that the fair, proper, and appropriate result, as well as the legally correct one, is affirmance of the lower court's summary judgment, dismissing the Plaintiffs' claims.